Riparian Buffer Zones Management for Improving British Columbia's Salmon Habitat

Zoe Li

Master of Land and Water System Major Project Supervisor: Les Lavkulich July 5th, 2023

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	2		
Introduction			
Benefits of Riparian Buffer Zones	4		
Factors Influencing Riparian Buffer Zones	5		
Increasing Temperature and Cold-Temperature Fish Species	5		
Riparian Indicators and Design	6		
Objective	7		
Methods	7		
Results			
Atlantic Salmon Conservation Plan for Seven Maine River			
Salmon Vulnerability and Overall Threats	8		
Riparian Habitat in the Olympic Experimental State Forest, Washington State			
The Study Site:			
Indicator 1: Channel Morphology	16		
Indicator 2: Stream Shade			
Indicator 3: Channel Substrate			
Indicator 4: Instream Large Woody Debris(LWD)			
Indicator 5: Habitat Units and Valley and Channel Classification			
Indicator 6: Stream Temperature	19		
Indicator 7: Stream Discharge			
Indicator 8: Riparian Microclimate			
Indicator 9: Riparian Vegetation	20		
BC Riparian Buffer Zone Management: Forested Ecosystem			
I. Forest Practice Codes(FPC)	24		
II. Forest and Range Practices Act	25		
III. Forest Stewardship Council	28		
IV. Riparian Management Regulations	29		
Discussion			
Future Management Guidance and Recommendations	33		
Conclusion			
References			
Appendix			

Acknowledgement

I would like to extend my heartfelt gratitude to my family for their unwavering support and encouragement throughout this academic journey at the program of Land and Water System. Their love and understanding have been my constant motivation.

A special appreciation goes to Les Lavkulich and Julie Wilson for their guidance, mentorship, and the invaluable feedback they provided. Your expertise and dedication significantly contributed to the success of this project, and I am truly grateful for your time and effort.

I am also deeply thankful to my classmates for their camaraderie and the collaborative spirit that enriched my learning experience. Your shared insights and discussions were invaluable.

This project would not have been possible without the support of these incredible individuals and the broader community around me. Thank you for being an integral part of this endeavor.

Executive Summary

This project addresses the challenges faced by British Columbia and Pacific Northwest salmon-bearing streams as the result of urbanization and climate change. The project focuses on understanding the factors that influence riparian functionality and how these factors are monitored within a forested ecosystem where most salmon-bearing streams occur most. By conducting a systematic literature review, the project evaluates and compares riparian management plans implemented in different regions, namely Maine, Seattle's Olympic Experimental State Forest, and British Columbia. These case studies have management framework based on different premises, by providing management based on land uses, monitoring guidelines and the particular focus on forested ecosystems.

The research highlights the ecological functions of riparian buffer zones and their potential for mitigating the negative impacts of human activities on salmon habitats. Through the analysis of various management plans, the project identifies specific indicators used to assess riparian systems and discusses the advantages and disadvantages of different management practices.

The findings emphasize the need for effective riparian management to conserve and restore salmon habitat. The project highlights available options for riparian management in British Columbia and provides recommendations for optimizing riparian regulations. These recommendations are based on the successful practices observed in the examined regions and aims to enhance the resilience of riparian buffer zones in British Columbia, thus benefiting salmon populations.

By shedding light on the importance of riparian buffer zones in supporting salmon habitat, the project contributes to the broader understanding of sustainable ecosystem management. The results can guide policymakers, land managers, and conservation organizations in developing strategies and implementing effective riparian management practices.

Overall, this project provides insights into riparian buffer zones management and their role in improving British Columbia's salmon habitat. It serves as a resource for stakeholders involved in salmon conservation efforts, offering recommendations to enhance riparian regulations and protect the long-term sustainability of salmon populations in the region.

Introduction

Freshwater habitat alterations and water temperature rise in response to ubiquitous land use changes threaten cold-water salmonids (Bradford & Irvine, 2000; Justice et al.,2017). As the transitioning interface, riparian buffer zones play a vital role in connecting the aquatic and terrestrial ecosystems (Collins et al., 2010). Riparian buffer zones possess diverse environmental processes and functions that result in variable flooding regimes, unique channel processes, as well as upland influences on the fluvial corridor (Naiman & Decamps, 1997).

Benefits of Riparian Buffer Zones

While riparian buffer zones exhibit numerous ecological benefits, including flood control, nutrient cycling, altitudinal climate regulations, energy-matter exchange, and biodiversity (Pal et al., 2020), their significance is particularly pronounced in forested ecosystems where most salmonid-bearing streams occur. In the context of British Columbia, forested ecosystems represent a crucial habitat for cold-water salmonids and play a key role in supporting their populations. Additionally, riparian buffer zones significantly contribute to biodiversity richness (Wentzel & Hull, 2021). In the U.S, riparian systems accommodate one third of plant species and 60% of vertebrate species. Despite their insignificant land coverage (>2%), they are responsible for supporting 70% of endangered and threatened species (Wentzel & Hull, 2021). Riparian buffer zones are also crucial as they play a role in altering hydrological processes and water regimes that directly impact the aquatic ecosystem (Klapproth & Johnson, 2009).

In addition, riparian systems are valuable as they bring recreational and economic benefits beyond the ecosystem. For instance, riparian buffer zones can maintain surrounding water quality for recreational purposes, such as hiking, fishing and camping (Wentzel & Hull, 2021). Riparian zones aid in minimizing the effects of anthropogenic activities on terrestrial land, including urbanization, dam construction, and agriculture, which can negatively influence watershed quality and stream health. Urban watersheds present higher concentrations of nutrients, sediments, bacteria, and metals in comparison to a forested watershed (Chelsea Nagy et al.,2012). The issues of urbanization are commonly associated with increased imperviousness, runoff volumes, and velocities. More importantly, the increased discharge of pollutants such as oil, grease, and other substances results in urban pollution (Barrios, 2000). Human and livestock waste may lead to fecal

contaminant runoff to adjacent water bodies (Chelsea Nagy et al.,2012; Mallin et al.,2009). Riparian buffer zones effectively reduce water velocity, capture sediments, and filter pollutants, including pesticides and heavy metals, resulting in cleaner water and improved habitat conditions (Wentzel & Hull, 2021). Moreover, the productive vegetation and clean water in riparian zones can also benefit neighboring foraging and agricultural activities (Wentzel & Hull, 2021).

Factors Influencing Riparian Buffer Zones

While a healthy riparian buffer system can protect and even enhance water bodies, a degraded system may have a compromised capacity to perform its functions. Although riparian buffer systems usually exhibit a certain extent of resiliency towards natural processes, prolonged stresses may irreversibly damage the riparian and aquatic ecosystem (Wu et al.,2023; Sabater, 2008). Factors such as erosion, wildfire risks and increasing air temperatures all pose threats to the wellbeing of a riparian buffer (Wentzel & Hull, 2021). Severe water erosion may degrade a riparian ecosystem if the surface layer of the soil is removed by runoff, rainfall and irrigation. Similarly, intense wildfires could severely impact riparian vegetation and result in more fuel accumulation (Wentzel & Hull, 2021).

Increasing Temperature and Cold-Temperature Fish Species

Increasing air temperature may lead to an increase in water temperature, which creates a serious problem for cold-water salmonid species (Wentzel & Hull, 2021; Justice et al., 2017). Salmonid populations inevitably decrease sharply when they are exposed to a temperature that exceeds their range for survival (Barrios, 2000; Justice et al., 2017). Anadromous fish populations rely on freshwater bodies to carry out their juvenile and reproductive stages (Grunblatt et al., 2019). Specifically, salmonids return to swim from the ocean to the headwaters of their home river to spawn and complete their life cycle (Fullerton et al., 2006). Young hatches also begin their initial stages in the freshwater before returning to the ocean (Emmingham et al.,2005). Successful spawning, hatching and survival is dependent on the conditions of the **entire migration route** (Emmingham et al.,2005). Riparian buffer vegetation enables favorable salmon habitats by providing shading that lowers water temperature. In addition, tree litters act as coverage for juvenile salmon that protects them from predators (Emmingham et al.,2005). A well-restored

riparian system even has the potential to offset climate change impacts on the salmon population (Justice et al., 2017).

As a keystone species in British Columbia, salmon is a vital part of the food chain and contributes to a significant portion of BC's aquaculture income (Pacific Salmon Foundation, 2011). Salmon has a great spiritual value to many First Nations communities as they are commonly regarded as a gift from the creator (Smithsonian. 2018). In addition, salmonids' spawning process is considered to be a sacrifice of their own life for the next generation, thus they are the symbol of regeneration and perseverance (Artina, 2023). Due to the importance of salmon to BC's culture, ecology, and economy, it is critical to investigate how riparian buffer zones can be maintained, or restored to accommodate salmon, given the accelerating land-use changes, urban and agriculture contamination, as well as climate change unpredictability.

Riparian Indicators and Design

While studies support the positive role of riparian buffer zones in pollutant and sediment control, there is a need for investigations of riparian buffer zone indicators and how they would benefit salmon habitats. This research provides information on ideal riparian characteristics to specific streams, to understand if the riparian habitats in the selected areas provide a high stream quality for salmon to carry out their lifecycle, as land use surrounding the streams and the riparian areas have a large impact on the stream quality (Fullerton et al., 2006). Hence, the type of land use surrounding the stream is an indicator of the quality of the stream. Research has determined that the width of riparian buffers greatly impacts multiple stream factors (Fullerton et al., 2006). There are additional riparian buffer factors that impact riparian efficacy, these include slope, soil quality and the types, quantity and structure of vegetation (Haberstock et al., 2000). As the vegetation can be easily impacted by nearby land use and the riparian buffers (Haberstock et al., 2000). Having poor riparian vegetation along streams can impact functions within the streams (Fullerton et al., 2006). The type of vegetation and density can impact shade and in turn, the temperature of the stream itself. Nutrient levels, invertebrate diversity and drift are also heavily tied to tree and vegetation cover and quality (Erős et al., 2012).

To avoid permanent jeopardy to ecological resilience, information on how to evaluate a riparian buffer system's well-being is crucial. The purpose of this study was to understand how different indicators of riparian buffer zones can influence their functionality and capacity to perform ecological services. Because riparian systems in British Columbia are distributed across various land uses, site-specific management guidance is also considered, as management and regulations can not be uniform across agricultural, industrial, and forested landscapes as geographical context and the extent of degradation is distinct.

Objective

The goal of this project was to understand how different indicators influence riparian buffer systems' efficacy, along with land use changes and alterations to the freshwater habitats for cold-temperature salmonid species. Under the stresses of climate change and land use changes, riparian buffer zones that demonstrate significant promise in maintaining water quality and achieving restoration goals are increasingly significant in sustaining salmonid species. The three objectives of this research were to:

- 1. Understand factors that influence riparian systems' functionality and efficacy,
- 2. Compare these factors with existing monitoring and management framework for riparian habitats within the forested ecosystem where most salmon-bearing streams occur, and
- 3. Provide recommendations to improve existing regulations and management to further support riparian restoration and salmonid populations

Methods

A review of existing general and specific literature on the design of riparian buffer zones was conducted on the Atlantic salmon to compare approaches that might aid in assessment for the potential of maintaining salmon habitats in British Columbia and the Pacific Northwest. Riparian buffer systems were studied using literature, government websites, and existing case studies on the salmon population and riparian management. The search term "riparian", was paired with the term "salmon" in the initial UBC library and Google Scholar search engine. Further filtering process involved adding the term "habitat" with "salmon" while keeping the term "riparian". Particular knowledge on salmon habitats and riparian was referenced from field experts who

focused their lenses in the British Columbia context, particularly Dr. Scott Hinch and Dr. John Richardson (UBC Forestry 2023, UBC Forestry 2023a). To achieve the objectives mentioned above, the research will provides an analysis on riparian systems through the following steps:

- Investigate previous case study on Atlantic salmon habitat protection as part of the Atlantic Salmon Conservation Plan for Seven Maine River,
- Understand existing monitoring framework to manage riparian habitats, in Olympic Experimental State Forest of Washington, and British Columbia,
- Compare and contrast riparian management plans for the two different locations, and
- Discuss the results based on available findings to inform riparian buffer zone potential and provide recommendations to improve existing policies on riparian buffers

Results

Atlantic Salmon Conservation Plan for Seven Maine River

The Atlantic Salmon Conservation Plan was the result of an executive order from the State of Maine, USA. Governor King's appointment in 1995. The mission was to prepare a conservation plan for the protection and recovery of the Atlantic Salmon population across seven rivers in Maine. The seven rivers include the Dennys, Machias, East Machias, Narraguagus, and Pleasant Rivers in Washington and Hancock Counties and the Ducktrap and Sheepscot Rivers in Lincoln, Kennebec, Sagadahoc, Knox, and Waldo Counties (The Maine Atlantic Salmon Task Force,1997). The single legislature granted the State Government the authority to manage Atlantic salmon in both saltwater and freshwater environments. For the purpose of this research, the analysis focused on the freshwater habitats for salmonid species.

Salmon Vulnerability and Overall Threats

According to the State Government documents (1997), salmon are of particular interest by the Government as they provide irreplaceable cultural and ecological values. Their lifecycle makes them intricately connected with the freshwater ecosystem: they begin as juvenile hatchlings in freshwater streams, migrate from rivers and streams to the oceanic environments and return as adults 1-3 years later as adults to spawn (The Maine Atlantic Salmon Task Force,1997). Salmon are sensitive to various environmental factors, such as hydrology, seasonal water temperatures, pH, dissolved oxygen, as well as streambed characteristics. Food availability, competition and human

disturbances also influence salmon survival (The Maine Atlantic Salmon Task Force,1997). A well-maintained salmon population is not only the result of a healthy riparian system but they play an integral role in the ecosystem. Atlantic salmon, in particular ,provide nitrogen to riparian vegetation and the decomposition of their carcasses transfers nutrients to the soil (Drake&Naiman,2007).

Ideally, salmon generally requirs cool, well-oxygenated water beds with coarse gravel beds and suitable water depths (The Maine Atlantic Salmon Task Force,1997). Salmonid species are threatened by an array of human activities, both directly and indirectly. Illegal harvesting results in a decrease in the salmon population, while urbanization and agricultural activities introduce a wide range of chemicals that may pollute and become lethal to salmon in freshwater habitats (Coelho et al.,2014), through solid waste management practices, accidental spills and direct discharges, chemicals such as petroleum products, pesticides and heavy metals (The Maine Atlantic Salmon Task Force,1997). To minimize the detrimental effects of anthropogenic activities, the State Government proposed actions to address current threats and enhance salmon protection. These actions were based on the different types of land uses practices: a) agriculture, b) forestry, c) aquaculture and d) other types of land use. The following section will focus agriculture and forestry practices.

A. Agriculture

Prior to the salmon conservation planning initiative, a comprehensive list of agricultural activities across the seven watersheds were identified (Table 1). These agricultural activities and production systems included diary farming, hay, silage corn, horse farming, sheep farming, blueberries, cranberries, landscape and horticultural plants, and peat mining (The Maine Atlantic Salmon Task Force,1997). Major agricultural activities were grouped into three categories:

- 1. crop and animal production: cultivation, manure and water use,
- 2. harvest and transport: road construction and maintenance, storage, harvest energy, and
- 3. processing and management: pest management, waste recycling, process water use, treatment and discharges.

Table 1. Potential threats to Atlantic salmon habitat quantity and quality related to agricultural activities across 7

watersheds.

Source: The Maine Atlantic Salmon Task Force, 1997

WATERSHED: PLEASANT RIVER, NARRAGUAGUS RIVER, MACHIAS RIVER, SHEEPSCOT				
RIVER, EAST MACHIAS RIVER, DENNYS RIVER, DUCKTRAP RIVER				
AGRICULTURAL ACTIVITY	FACTOR POSING A POTENTIAL THREAT TO ISSUE			
	HABITAT	PRIORITY		
Water Use	Irrigation	Low to		
		Moderate		
	Cranberry culture	Low		
	Land application of processed water	Low		
	Process water, Volume, Temperature	Low		
Agricultural Practices	Pesticide use (blueberry, cranberry)	Moderate		
	Nutrients and sediments	Low to High		
	Wetland alteration	Low		
	Oil, fuel, and contaminants	Low		
	Livestock management	High		
	Manure/sludge management	High		
Peat Mining	Proposed mine	Moderate		

Agricultural activities are associated with an array of concerns for salmon habitats. The adverse effects of direct water withdrawal from salmon-running rivers contributes to bank instability and salmon inaccessibility (Mills,1972). Hydrological influences of surface water withdrawal for irrigation impact in several ways: alter spring and fall runoff, reduce total annual and seasonal peak flows, transport water across watersheds, and reduce summer flows (The Maine Atlantic Salmon Task Force,1997). The reduction of summer base and peak flows may further influence the water quality by reducing habitat areas, changing the quality of the legacy habitats, reducing aeration and the levels of dissolved oxygen, promoting algae growth on substrates, and increasing temperatures (The Maine Atlantic Salmon Task Force,1997).

In Maine, the annual flow among all the rivers was sufficient to conclude that agricultural-related issues are not the result of the water-shortage problem, but challenges regarding water management (The Maine Atlantic Salmon Task Force,1997). A common issue related to agriculture is the use of pesticides in crop production. Pesticides include chemicals that aim to control biological organisms, such as insects [insecticides], primary producers [herbicides], and fungi [fungicides] (Macneale et al.,2010). As non-point source pollution, agricultural and urban runoff containing pesticide toxins are transported to salmon habitats (Macneale et al.,2010). Figure 1. shows that the measured concentrations of toxins at Atlantic salmon habitats are already exceeding the threshold to kill 50% of the test salmon.



Figure 1. Environmental concentrations of three insecticides (malathion, diazinon, and chlorpyrifos) measured in Pacific salmon habitats and range of concentrations that have been found to kill 50% of tested salmon and prey species after \leq 4-day exposures (ie LC50s; US EPA Ecotox Database, <u>http://cfpub.epa.gov/ecotox/</u>).

With existing programs that minimize the negative effects of agricultural runoff, the working group proposed further actions to complete salmon conservation and protection. Some identified current actions to reduce threats are:

• Integrated Crop Management (ICM) and Best Management Practices (BMPs) for blueberry and cranberry production with the leadership of Maine Cooperative Extension, program.

- The Non-point Source (NPS) program and the Coastal Zone Management (CZM) program with BMPs to protect water quality.
- Generic State Management Plan for Pesticides and Ground Water and the Hexazinone State Management Plan for Protection of Ground Water.
- Soil and Water Conservation Districts' technical assistance to farmers with BMPs to reduce NPS pollution.
- Collaboration among the Department of Environmental Protection, the Land Use Regulation Commission, and Worcester Peat Co., the owner of the Denbo Heath Peat Mine (The Maine Atlantic Salmon Task Force, 1997).

To ensure protection for salmon habitats, the working group suggests implementing Total Water Use Management Plans for each watershed to meet the needs of both agricultural production and Atlantic salmon. The site-specific non-point source program is also proposed for Sheepscot River, the watershed most vulnerable to agricultural practices. Furthermore, Board of Pesticide Control programs should be enhanced along with knowledge of wetlands functions that are important for maintaining the integrity of Atlantic salmon habitat (The Maine Atlantic Salmon Task Force,1997).

B. Forestry

Forestry practices readily influence small streams, where most salmonid habitats are distributed. According to Murphy (1995), although salmonids occupy streams ranging from first order, salmon spawning and rearing mostly take place in second to fourth-order streams. Small streams affect downstream habitat quality as they are responsible for the transport of water, sediments, nutrients, and woody debris from the upper watershed (Murphy, 1995).



Figure 2. Diagram of a watershed's drainage network, showing stream orders according to the Strahler classification system. First-order streams are headwater streams without tributaries; second-order streams are formed by the

confluence of two first-order streams; third-order streams are formed by the confluence of two second-order streams; and so on.

Forestry practices are crucial considerations for salmon conservation. Timber activities throughout the entire watershed may influence salmonids by altering watershed processes and structures (Murphy, 1995). Temperature increase and fine sediments are the most associated issues with logging activities. The removal of the vegetative canopy can increase the temperature by up to 10 degrees (Beschta et al.,1987). The temperature increase is directly proportional to the area that is exposed to sunlight, thus the smallest streams would be the most influenced. Similarly, soil compaction, as a result of logging machinery also increases the risk of erosion. Erosion increases when disturbed, compacted soils are exposed to rainfall (Murphy, 1995). Road surfaces, landings, and disturbed clear-cut areas are all likely to introduce fine sediments to streams (Murphy, 1995). Landslides associated with roads is 300 times more frequent than in a forest with minimum disturbance and the sediment quantities produced far exceed the sediments from forests (Furniss et al.,1991). While coarse gravels and cobbles can help to shape channel morphology, fine sediments reduce substrate permeability for salmon embryos, decreases available cover by filling interstitial spaces, and can even trigger stream bank slope failures as the soil is saturated (Murphy, 1995).

To minimize the detrimental effects, the Governor's Atlantic Salmon Task Force outlined a list of actions to reduce the threats to Atlantic salmon from forestry-related activities and promote salmon recovery (The Maine Atlantic Salmon Task Force,1997). Research recognizes the critical importance of riparian buffer strips with functional vegetation and the need to separate intensive land use from complex natural systems to sustain larger ecosystems and maintain water quality (The Maine Atlantic Salmon Task Force,1997).

1. Assessment of Forest Cover and Hydrology Dynamics in Watersheds

This is the necessary first step to identify the baseline of the watershed and monitor potential abnormal flow, and using remote sensing technologies and modeling hydrology dynamics has proven to be a reliable technique. Using models and existing data from the USDA Forest Service Decennial Forest Inventory and Assessment(1972-1984),managers can predict the potential impacts of harvest on local watersheds. And the watershed flow

dynamics can be observed over a timeframe. For instance, existing data can recorded the timber harvest operations from 1990 to 1994 and computer modeling and remote sensing technologies were helpful for refining the knowledge gaps, but Forest Service experts must still collaborate closely with local landowners and acquire permission.

2. Complete Habitat Mapping and Assessment

The Atlantic authority can complete the mapping on its own. The Maine Department of Inland Fisheries works cooperatively with local landowners to develop salmon habitat protection agreements. Open waters that either provide food or refuge to Atlantic Salmon are evaluated by regulatory agencies, and areas that are classified as significant to Atlantic salmon are recommended to be rezoned to Fish and Wildlife Protection Subdistricts.

3. Voluntary Management of Road Impacts and Enforce Existing Regulation

Cooperating with landowners, resource managers and state agencies can help to update the Best Management Practices (BMP). Local compliance and individual initiatives promoted by educational programs can effectively protect salmon-bearing streams from non-point source pollution. Project SHARE, as an organization, can work with the government, river groups and landowners to manage future access to the rivers. The combined efforts of State agencies and private groups are the key for responsible angling and eliminating illegal fishing.

4. Support Riparian Harvesting Restrictions and Enhance Headwater Protection

Timber harvest activities should be monitored by regulatory agencies and there by increasing enforcement with a strict compliance standard as the best approach to maintaining stream temperature and conserving salmon habitats. Project SHARE should continue education, particularly to local contractors and manage salmonids' sensitivity to shading and the importance of canopy. It is ideal to promote the use of streamside BMP in Atlantic salmon watersheds.

5. Enhance Atlantic Salmon Habitat

The initial activity is to ensure continued support of project SHARE along with local river groups to remove large woody debris that causes blockages for salmon migration. This step should take place after consulting a fishery biologist, since not all woody debris adversely influences salmon. Some trapped logs provide holding pools for juvenile salmon and some may provide organic carbon as energy source for aquatic species. A system approach to assess whether a log is beneficial to the salmon habitat can increase spawning and nursery habitats availability.

6. Comprehensive Management of Forest Chemicals

The forestry industry supports precautionary actions to prevent water quality degradation from pesticide use, acute or chronic effects on Atlantic salmon and habitat changes. The Board of Pesticide Control work closely with the government and experts to update BMPs based on the latest research. Meanwhile, the geographic usage of pesticide should be reviewed and critical regions should be targeted as priorities.

Riparian Habitat in the Olympic Experimental State Forest, Washington State

The Washington State Department of Natural Resources has presented a monitoring protocol for assessing the status of riparian and aquatic habitats in the Olympic Experimental State Forest (OESF). The purpose of this document was to outline the field procedures for sampling riparian and aquatic habitats indicators, quality assurance and control steps, as well as data management procedures for documentation and reporting of trends (Devine et al.,2022). The procedures described in the government document help to record progress toward reaching the conservation objectives of the State Trust Land Conservation Plan (HCP).

The Study Site:

A long-term study was conducted to monitor riparian management through riparian and stream conditions within the OESF – 270,000 acres (110,000 ha) of State trust lands managed by the Washington State Department of Natural Resources. The area has precipitation ranging from 203 to 355 cm, with the majority falling during the winter. Numerous small streams and headwaters are concentrated within a tight network of streams and rivers exceeding 4000 km in length (Devine

et al.,2022). Riparian buffer areas in the OESF provide habitats for nine native anadromous salmonid species: sockeye salmon (*Oncorhynchus nerka*), pink salmon (*O. gorbuscha*), chum salmon (*O. keta*), Chinook salmon (*O. tshawytscha*), coho salmon (*O. kisutch*), steelhead trout (O. mykiss), coastal cutthroat trout (*O. clarkii clarkii*), bull trout (*Salvelinus confluentus*), and mountain whitefish (*Prosopium williamsoni*).

Key indicators are monitored at 50 representative study sites in the OESF. In addition, four ecologically similar watersheds in the adjacent Olympic National Park (ONP) were selected as reference sites. The purpose of the reference sites is to understand riparian habitat complexity without management and consider natural variation (Devine et al.,2022). The monitoring protocols follow nine habitat attributes: **stream temperature, channel morphology, shading, channel substrate, instream Large Woody Debris(LWD), habitat valley and channel classification, stream discharge, riparian microclimate, and riparian vegetation.** The conditions of riparian habitats are monitored at the most downstream section. This is because the transmission of land use disturbances from headwaters through the drainage network results in a downstream section that is most representative of the changes throughout the entire watershed (Devine et al.,2022). The monitoring process is expected to last at least 10 years, thus it is to critically clarify quality assurance and quality control procedures to ensure consistency.

Indicator 1: Channel Morphology

The protocols to measure stream temperature are adapted from Stream Channel Reference Sites (Harrelson et al. 1994). The manual is widely accepted in the Pacific Northwest due to its detailed and well-described procedures. Channel morphology ,such as shade, dimension and slope provide critical information about watershed-level ecological processes. Channel morphology is a fundamental narrative for the distribution and abundance for aquatic species. By regulating water flow and stream capacity, channel morphology influences sediment storage and organic matter availability (Bisson et al.,2017; Minkova & Foster, 2017). Geomorphological attributes, such as channel width, confinement and gradients are particularly important for managing and conserving fish habitats (Minkova & Foster, 2017).

Channel morphology information is further employed in environmental impact assessment modeling. For instance, stream gradients are used for understanding stream reaches and the assignment of reach-scale sensitivity, and channel width are similarly used in the stream model and the microclimate model. Channel morphology measurement begins with bank-full width, which is defined as the horizontal distance between each side of the stream, followed by the bank-full depth while taking account of special circumstances such as the side channel and undercuts (Minkova & Foster, 2017). Furthermore, the percentage of active erosion along with channel confinement are also measured as quantifiable data. It is recommended to take an Azimuth survey and measurement of the channel sinuosity during field procedures (Minkova & Foster, 2017).

Indicator 2: Stream Shade

The OESF Forest Land Plan recognizes stream shade as a major indicator for fish habitats quality, riparian areas and water quality (Martens et al.,2016;Ricklefs et al.,2022) Stream shade is the extent that the stream channel is exposed to sunlight. As mentioned earlier, Stream shade is one of the most important factors in affecting stream temperature (Ricklefs et al.,2022). Stream temperature furthermore influences aquatic organisms as all species have a range within which they can survive. Salmonids, for example, can spawn when the water temperature is between 1-20°C, with stronger performance between 4-17°C (Murphy, 1995). Stream shade can also dictate stream structure such as organic substrate, algae biomass and primary production (Naiman & Decamps, 1997). Empirical stream shade data is not always available and measurable. Fortunately, riparian vegetation inventory data can help to model and project sun paths over streams (Ricklefs et al.,2022).

Indicator 3: Channel Substrate

Channel substrate measures the content of organic and mineral materials that form the stream bottom bed (Horton et al.,2022). The substrate composition determines channel stream roughness, channel hydraulics, including water velocity and thus habitat quality. When salmon begin their migration back to the ocean, they desire streams with adequate flow (Murphy, 1995). Channel substrates provide necessary conditions for other stages of salmonids. For instance, some substrates are favorable during spawning because they adhere to salmon eggs (Horton et al.,2022). Larger substrates can provide ideal living space for macroinvertebrates as food sources for salmon (Mellina & Hinch, 2009). Substrate composition, stability and embeddedness are also useful indicators of management impact on sediments and hydrologic regimes (Horton et al.,2022). Substrate particles are classified into different types according to their size and their relevant percentages reflect on the sediment delivery that influences salmon habitats. When sediment delivery data is not available, road surfaces and traffic proximity to streams are used to project the level of traffic influences (Horton et al.,2022).

Indicator 4: Instream Large Woody Debris(LWD)

In-stream Large Woody Debris (LWD) refers to pieces of logs, root wads, and a large chunk of wood that are present in the stream channels. LWD plays various roles in stream regulation: trapping and retaining sediment, changing water velocity, diverting streamflow and changing channel gradients (Foster et al.,2022). The condition of LWD also suggests the historical and cumulative recruitment rate over time (Schuett-Hames et al.,1999).

The type and magnitude of ecological functions of LWD depends on the size, species, location, and particular distribution of the pieces. LWD functionality is affected by channel gradient and size. For example, woody debris was once regarded as detrimental to salmon survival as large pieces of wood may impede the migration process. However, later evidence suggests that woody debris can also provide habitats and cover for many aquatic species (Devine et al., 2022). LWD input varies throughout the year, it is recommended that sampling of LWD take place during summer or early fall, when streamflow is typically moderately and the discharge rate is stable (Foster et al., 2022).

Indicator 5: Habitat Units and Valley and Channel Classification

The classification of stream valleys, channels, and habitat units forms the basis for comprehending channel morphology, assessing channel conditions, characterizing the microhabitat of fish and other aquatic organisms, and gaining insights into the response of streams to natural and anthropogenic influences (Minkova& Foster, 2017).

The knowledge of stream response to disturbance relies on resilient systems and procedures for stream classification and assessment. These frameworks facilitate the creation of accurate and replicable reach descriptions, while providing valuable information on the processes that govern channel structure (Bisson et al.,2017). Valley segments are classified into alluvial, bedrock and colluvial valleys based on sediment types, length of the sample reach, and segment types. The hierarchy classification system also enables comparisons and extrapolation of results to other ecologically similar sites during management (Minkova& Foster, 2017).

Indicator 6: Stream Temperature

Stream temperature influences the survival of aquatic species, as all life forms have a tolerance threshold. As discussed in the previous section, increasing water temperature stresses cold-water salmonids and results in eggs or individual mortality (Foster et al.,2022). Federaly recognized as endangered species, such as trout and salmon, also list temperature as a limiting factor. Warmer water temperature can affect embryonic development, juvenile growth, migration, and susceptibility to diseases (Sullivan et al.,2000).

Water temperature is the product of multiple energy transfer processes. Solar radiation and long-wave input, air convection, stream bed conduction, groundwater flux, hyporheic flux, evaporation, and condensation all contribute to stream temperature. Solar radiation, in particular, is the primary influencer of daily maximum temperature. The input of solar radiation is directly related to riparian canopy removal as a result of logging, wildfires and windthrow (Poole & Berman, 2001). Comprehensive stream temperature is not only a measure of daily maximum temperature, but inclusion of other metrics such as daily and weekly temperature mean and deviation, range of annual temperature, as well as the correlation of air and water temperature when stream water temperature(Foster et al.,2022).

Indicator 7: Stream Discharge

Stream discharge, also known as stream flow, refers to the amount of water that passes through a specific point within a set timeframe. The quantity and timing of stream flow play essential roles in water supply, water quality, and the overall ecological integrity of river systems (LeRoy et al.,1997). Salmon habitat conditions are significantly influenced by stream discharge as it directly influences channel morphology, the concentration of chemicals, dissolved oxygen levels, and the distribution of LWD

(LovellFord et al., 2022). The life patterns of many aquatic species including salmonids are dependent on-stream discharge conditions: adult salmon migration and juvenile salmonids growth. Stream discharge reflects climatic factors and land use practices. For instance, timber harvest increases the fraction of precipitation as available streamflow and thus increase peak flows in headwater catchment (LovellFord et al., 2022). In the Western Oregon Cascades, increased timber harvest is associated with 50% peak discharge increase in small basins and 100% increase peak discharge in large basins (Jones & Grant, 1996). Stream discharges are also influenced by other land use changes such as urbanization (Horwitzet al., 2008). Stream discharge data should be measured year round on a monthly basis, and more records can ensure the establishment of an accurate rating curve for riparian management (LovellFord et al., 2022).

Indicator 8: Riparian Microclimate

Given that the goal of OSEF is to promote suitable habitats for salmonids and other fish taxa in the local region, the consideration for climatic factors should be included during the monitoring process. Preservation of riparian microclimate factors such as moisture, temperature, light, wind speeds, all affect how aquatic species are adapted to the environmental conditions and stream geomorphology (Bigley et al.,2022). Stream microclimates are influenced by adjacent land uses, yet scientists assume that riparian buffers have the capacity to ameliorate the negative consequences of land use changes. Riparian microclimate significantly contributes to mitigating environmental fluctuations and maintaining stable in-stream temperatures, while providing a habitat for wildlife closely associated with riparian zones. Microclimatic variables must be understood and monitored as they are the backbone of high productivity, complex habitat structure, moisture rich conditions and high biodiversity natures of riparian systems (Olson et al.,2007).

Indicator 9: Riparian Vegetation

The observation of riparian vegetation serves as an irreplaceable indicator in understanding the overall riparian system condition. The dynamics of forest structure, including competition, decay, and disturbance, are vital for assessing the influence of riparian forests on stream temperature, near-stream microclimate, and inputs such as litter, sediment, and woody debris that impact stream habitat. Consequently, the recovery of aquatic communities and their resilience following disturbances is closely tied to the successional process driven by the regeneration of riparian vegetation (Devine et al., 2022).

Effective riparian management practices are essential for protecting riparian areas from the impacts of timber harvesting, with their capacity to maintain water quality, biodiversity, and ecosystem functions dependent on the preservation of near-stream vegetation. However, the effectiveness of different management approaches can vary significantly. In the Olympic Experimental State Forest (OESF), riparian areas have undergone clear-cutting up to the stream edge, resulting in a vegetation composition that consists of a mix of natural regeneration and plantation establishment. Meanwhile, dense riparian vegetation canopy without thinning may also affect salmon stocks negatively (McCormick & Harrison, 2011). Monitoring changes in vegetation structure is crucial for interpreting the recovery of watersheds from past disturbances and assessing the overall success of restoration efforts. It is recommended that sampled trees be measured at the Diameter at Breast Height (DBH). More importantly, understory plantations that influence soil structure and stability should be recorded(Devine et al.,2022).

BC Riparian Buffer Zone Management: Forested Ecosystem

The synthesis from this section was produced from Tschaplinski and Pike's Publication, as it offers a comprehensive review and the historical development of riparian forest management in British Columbia. This publication is used as a case study to exemplify riparian habitats management strategies in forested ecosystems, which are crucial for freshwater salmon habitats. Although the BC provincial government presented general guidelines for Riparian Areas protection, the focus on forested ecosystem through Forest the Forest Practices Code and the Forest and Range Practices Act which aims to target the well-being of riparian systems through vegetation management is worth investigating. The justification for this approach is based on the intention to delve deeply into the specific regulations governing forested riparian habitats, acknowledging that the BC Riparian Areas Protection Act/Regulation may indeed offer complementary measures. Like many other Pacific Northwest jurisdictions, BC also uses fish conservation as a principal foundation for riparian management (Tschaplinski & Pike, 2011). Water for domestic use is another most common

objective for riparian management. The framework of BC's riparian management extends beyond conserving fish or tree species. The Forest Practice Code (FPC) was implemented to achieve the following objectives:

- 1. Minimize impacts of forest and range uses on stream-channel dynamics, aquatic ecosystems, and water quality of water bodies.
- 2. Prevent impacts of forest and range use on wildlife habitat diversity, productivity, and sustainability in riparian areas.
- 3. Allow for forest and range use that aligns with the objectives of preserving stream channel dynamics, aquatic ecosystems, water quality, and wildlife habitat.

These principles align with the Forest Planning and Practices Regulations (FPPR) for water, fish, wildlife and biodiversity within riparian management. It is believed that riparian management will achieve these objectives, while not compromising timber supply in British Columbia (Tschaplinski & Pike,2011).

Since 1995, the province of British Columbia has defined the Riparian Management Area (RMA) as the principal management unit. The RMA zone consists of a riparian management zone (RMZ) and a non-harvest riparian reserve zone located adjacent to the waterbody. The widths of these zones vary by stream attributes and adjacent land uses (Tschaplinski & Pike,2011). Streams are classified from S1 to S6 based on fish abundance, average channel width and status within the community watershed (Table 2). The government guidebook recommends classifying streams, wetlands and lakes prior to riparian management.



Figure 3. Riparian management area for streams showing a management zone and a reserve zone along the stream channel (B.C. Ministry of Forests and B.C. Ministry of Environment 1995a)

Table 2. Riparian management area classification standards for streams. This classification framework developed for the FPC has been retained under the FRPA.

Riparian class	Average channel width (m)	Reserve zone width (m)	Management zone width (m)	Total width of RMA (m)	Retention in RMZ (%) ^a
S1-large (FPC) = S1-A (FRPA)	> 100 (for > 1 km of stream length)	0	100	100	$\leq 70^{\rm b}$
S1 (FPC) = S1-B (FRPA)	> 20	50	20	70	50
\$2	$> 5 \text{ to} \le 20$	30	20	50	50
\$3	$1.5 \text{ to } \le 5$	20	20	40	50
84	< 1.5	0	30	30	25
85°	> 3	0	30	30	25
S6 ^c	≤ 3	0	20	20	5

a Recommended in the *Riparian Management Area Guidebook* for FPC only as maximum and averaged over large operating areas, not specific to each cutblock (B.C. Ministry of Forests and B.C. Ministry of Environment 1995a).

b Softwood retention = 50% within 20 m of island perimeters and channel banks (see Table 6, B.C. Ministry of Forests and B.C. Ministry of Environment 1995a). Hardwood retention as per active floodplains = 70% (see Table 6, B.C. Ministry of Forests and B.C. Ministry of Environment 1995a).

c Non-fish-bearing streams.

Since the beginning of 1990s, ecosystem-based approaches to riparian management have been recommended and encouraged (Richardson et al.,2005). As a response, two legislative

management schemes emerged: *Forest Practices Code of British Columbia Act* and its successor, the current *Forest and Range Practices Act*(Tschaplinski & Pike,2011). In addition, the Forest Stewardship Council developed a riparian management framework .

I. Forest Practice Codes(FPC)

The prescriptive approach of the FPC establishes minimum widths for riparian management areas, reserve zones, and management zones based on riparian classification. Widths vary depending on channel width, stream gradient, watershed use, and fish presence. The goal is to minimize sediment and woody debris input, protect various riparian values such as wildlife, biodiversity, habitat integrity, and water quality across diverse environments. These schemes are easy to implement and administer, assumed to protect aquatic resources.

Realistically, the FPC approach for riparian management combines rules and results-based elements. Prescribed minimum widths for riparian reserves and management zones served as proxies for desired outcomes due to unknown thresholds for responses to management activities. Regulations such as the Timber Harvesting Practice Regulations are in place to govern activities, aiming to preserve reserve integrity and protect channels and aquatic habitats.

The FPC scheme enabled flexibility in riparian retention and management practices for water bodies without mandatory reserves. Forest licensees had discretion to achieve riparian management objectives within the designated zone. This included streams inhabited by small fish (class S4) and those without fish (classes S5 and S6). Management practices followed objectives outlined in the Riparian Management Area Guidebook, including recommendations for best practices.

The FPC established riparian reserve and management zones to protect streams, lakes, and wetlands of different types and sizes during and after forestry operations. Moreover, the standards aimed to balance riparian tree retention for environmental protection with economic and social values related to timber access. Mandatory, no-harvest riparian reserves were implemented for fish-bearing streams within specific size ranges, while smaller fish-bearing streams, streams without fish, and large rivers did not have legally required reserves. The decision allowed flexibility in managing the diverse population of small streams, while very large rivers were deemed to have minimal ecological and hydrological dependence on riparian areas.

<u>Criticism</u>

The FRC management approach faced two main criticisms. Firstly, concerns regarding the use of timber supply impacts in determining environmental protection standards, including riparian reserves and recommended levels of tree retention. Secondly, critics highlighted the absence of mandatory riparian reserves for small fish-bearing streams and their non-fish-bearing tributaries. Critiques supported more conservative approaches, such as mandatory reserves for certain stream classes.

Best Management Practices corresponding to the FRC do not always result in positive riparian changes. The Stuart–Takla Fisheries–Forestry Interaction Project found that stream temperatures remained four to six degrees warmer even after five years following the completion of the treatments, and diurnal temperature variation were higher than in the control streams regardless of treatment (Macdonald et al.,2013).

Despite criticisms and limitations of the FPC's riparian management standards, the Forest Practices Board concluded that the FPC had significantly improved the protection and maintenance of riparian and stream values compared to pre-FPC conditions, especially for larger fish-bearing streams with no-harvest riparian reserves. Any issues identified were mainly related to small streams being missed or misclassified, leading to improvements in stream identification and classification. Surveys in the central Interior Plateau confirmed that classified S4 streams were generally managed according to FPC standards and achieving objectives outlined in the Riparian Management Area Guidebook. The study found a low level of short-term impacts on stream channels, partly due to higher levels of riparian tree retention (49%) compared to the guidebook's recommended maximum (25% basal area). Full-retention reserves or similar high-retention riparian treatments were commonly implemented.

II. Forest and Range Practices Act

The Forest and Range Practices Act (FRPA) and its regulations took effect on Jan. 31, 2004. It replaced the FRC of British Columbia Act and regulations.

As a results-based approach, FRPA provides greater adaptability in riparian management by considering watershed-scale information and integrated riparian assessments. This approach recognizes the connections between small headwater streams and larger valley-bottom channels, allowing for more ecologically relevant and efficient management compared to rigid prescriptive regimes. Under the current Forest and Range Practices Act (FRPA), there are two options for riparian management:

1) the default prescriptive approach similar to the Forest Practices Code (FPC), and

2) an alternative approach outlined in a government-approved forest stewardship plan that demonstrates adherence to government objectives for riparian areas.

The first option retains the riparian classification systems from the Forest Practices Code (FPC) and incorporates a mix of rules-based and results-based elements in riparian management zones. Specific tree retention requirements are not regulated, but guidance can be found in the Riparian Management Area Guidebook. The second option allows for flexibility in management. Licensees can deviate from the prescriptive defaults by including results or strategies in a forest stewardship plan that aligns with government objectives for water, fish, wildlife, and biodiversity in riparian areas. The plan must address tree retention in riparian management areas. This approach enables licensees to choose the default prescriptive method or implement alternative riparian management strategies based on their expertise, resources, and willingness to meet the requirements of the results-based regime.

No explicit guidance is provided in the Act for licensees regarding alternative riparian management approaches. The regime envisions that these approaches are implemented by the proponent, based on existing knowledge and information collected at the watershed level. The goal is to have rational and informed riparian retention schemes that integrate hillslope-stream channel linkages and stand-level requirements. This information serves as non-legal background information for licensees' planning process, rather than being included in a forest stewardship plan.

Additional considerations are required regardless of the selected riparian management option. For instance, Licensees are obligated to provide results or strategies to comply with requirements in government-designated, fisheries-bearing watersheds. The aim is to prevent significant negative impacts on fish habitat resulting from the cumulative hydrological effects of primary forest activities. Similarly, Licensees must adhere to water quality objectives in community watersheds and avoid activities in coastal areas that could destabilize alluvial fans. These requirements are outlined in the Forest Planning and Practices Regulation and serve to ensure the protection of sensitive ecosystems and the maintenance of water quality in designated areas.

26

The Forest and Range Practices Act (FRPA) relies on "professional reliance" to achieve desired management outcomes. Qualified specialists, including geomorphologists, hydrologists, foresters, biologists, assess and plan activities. Riparian management areas and reserve zones are flexible and tailored to local watershed characteristics, ensuring riparian function is maintained. This approach aligns with environmental certification schemes. Post-harvest evaluations are conducted by both licensees and the government for adaptive management.

Advantages of the comprehensive watershed-based approach include ecologically sound riparian protection, licensee-driven planning, and consistency with environmental certification initiatives.

Riparian management assessments evaluate adjacent riparian areas by using 15 primary indicators that reveals their physical and biological characteristics. According to the protocol of riparian management, a list of questions used to determine the functioning conditions of a stream in British Columba (Table 3; Trip et al.,2009).

Table 3. Fifteen main assessment questions that correspond to the 15 indicators of stream riparian function as given in Table 15.13. These questions, ordered in a checklist, are answered "Yes" or "No" or "Not Applicable" (NA). Source: Trip et al.,2009)

Question 1.	Is the channel bed undisturbed?
Question 2.	Are the channel banks intact?
Question 3.	Are channel LWD processes intact?
Question 4	Is the channel morphology intact?
Question 5.	Are all aspects of the aquatic habitat sufficiently connected to allow for normal, unimpeded movements of fish, organic debris, and sediments?
Question 6.	Does the stream support a good diversity of fish cover attributes?
Question 7	Does the amount of moss present on the substrates indicate a stable and productive system?
Question 8.	Has the introduction of fine sediments been minimized?
Question 9.	Does the stream support a diversity of aquatic invertebrates?
Question 10.	Has the vegetation retained in the RMA been sufficiently protected from windthrow?
Question 11	Has the amount of bare erodible ground or soil compaction in the riparian area been minimized?
Question 12.	Has sufficient vegetation been retained to maintain an adequate root network or LWD supply?
Question 13.	Has sufficient vegetation been retained to provide shade and reduce bank microclimate change?
Question 14.	Have the number of disturbance-increaser plants, noxious weeds and/or invasive plant species present been limited to a satisfactory level?
Question 15.	Is the riparian vegetation within the first 10m from the edge of the stream generally characteristic of what the healthy unmanaged riparian plant community would normally be along the reach?

III. Forest Stewardship Council

The Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) has riparian standards for British Columbia that utilize both riparian reserves and high-retention riparian management zones. This approach is similar to the Forest and Range Practices Act (FRPA) in offering both prescriptive-like options and assessment-based alternatives. Both models include post-harvest effectiveness monitoring within an adaptive management framework. However, the FSC's alternative scheme explicitly requires comprehensive riparian assessments and a minimum riparian retention budget at the watershed or landscape level.

The FSC standards, by comparison, offers several benefits compared to the Forest Practices Code (FPC) and Forest and Range Practices Act (FRPA) standards, including:

- Reserves for a greater number of streams, including 30 m wide riparian reserve zones for all fish-bearing classes, including S4 streams and large rivers (S1a).
- Wider reserves and more classes requiring reserves for wetlands and lakes.
- Reserves that are narrower or equal in width to FPC/FRPA stream classes S1 and S2, but with increased tree retention of 65% by basal area in riparian management zones.
- Tree retention levels of 65% by basal area in the riparian management zones of all streams, except for classes S5b and S6b, with 30% retention in the management zones of all lakes and wetlands.
- Wider riparian management zones for certain streams, such as S1b, S2, and S5a, with higher basal area retention for fish-bearing streams.
- Narrower or equal-width management zones for non-fish-bearing streams, with basal area retention increased to 65% in domestic watersheds or within specific distances from fishbearing streams.

The assessment-based alternative allocates riparian tree retention based on comprehensive watershed-level assessments that integrate hillslope-stream channel linkages and stand-level requirements. However, management freedom is limited by the need to maintain a minimum proportion of riparian area in an unharvested state. Implementing a watershed-based, flexible approach poses challenges due to complexity, data requirements, technical expertise, and costs. Identifying and defining riparian ecotypes and determining appropriate retention levels remain complex tasks. In addition, compliance, enforcement, and interpreting monitoring results within the natural range of variability create challenges. Coordinating activities among multiple licensees or tenures further add to the complexity of the system.

IV. <u>Riparian Management Regulations</u>

The BC Riparian Areas Protection Act/Regulation provides a comprehensive framework for protecting riparian areas in the province. The purpose of riparian system protection moves beyond fish conservation like the FPC or the FRPA by defining and interpreting key terms within this regulation.

Active Floodplain: Defined as an area supporting floodplain plant species adjacent to a stream susceptible to inundation or within a designated boundary.

Assessment Methods: Refers to standardized methods outlined in the Schedule.

Assessment Report: A report prepared by a qualified environmental professional, certifying the potential impact of a proposed development in a riparian assessment area.

Development: Encompasses various activities associated with residential, commercial, or industrial endeavors, including vegetation alteration, construction, and infrastructure development. **Fish:** Includes salmonids, game fish, and regionally significant fish.

Floodplain Plant Species: Plants adapted to inundated or saturated soil conditions, distinct from upland species.

High Water Mark: The visible mark where water presence and action differentiate the stream's bed from its banks.

Natural Features, Functions, and Conditions: Encompass various elements such as organic debris, side channels, forests, and permeable surfaces that influence riparian health.

Permanent Structure: A building or structure lawfully constructed on a secure foundation.

Riparian Area: Defined as a streamside protection and enhancement area.

Riparian Assessment Area: Varies based on stream type, generally extending 30 meters from the high-water mark on both sides.

Stream: Includes various water bodies, even if they usually lack water.

Streamside Protection and Enhancement Area: Adjacent to streams, linking aquatic and terrestrial ecosystems.

Wetland: Land inundated or saturated with water supporting vegetation adapted to saturated soil conditions.

The regulation aims to protect riparian areas, ensuring they provide natural features, functions, and conditions supporting fish life processes. Additionally, it promotes intergovernmental cooperation and facilitates agreements with local governments to enforce and monitor riparian protection. The regulation applies to specific regional districts within British Columbia, excluding developments related to permanent structures on existing foundations. To proceed with development in riparian assessment areas, local governments must receive certification from qualified environmental professionals, confirming adherence to assessment methods and the absence of harmful impacts. Strategies for monitoring, enforcement, and education are also emphasized, with local governments responsible for their implementation. The regulation outlines the necessary components of assessment reports and includes transitional provisions for areas previously protected under the former Streamside Protection Regulation (Canlii, 2019).

Discussion

The Atlantic Salmon Conservation presents a pioneer salmon conservation case where riparian systems are monitored based on land use. The management is targeted towards saving salmon population by delineating a land use plan on the broader watershed scale. Agriculture and forestry activities both raise serious concerns for the well-being of salmon and risks for salmon habitats. In the case of Maine, other land use practices such as aquaculture and recreational fishing activities are also problematic. Actions targeting recreational activities and fishing, however, were not as explicit as the management of agricultural and forestry practices (The Maine Atlantic Salmon Task Force, 1997). Other major influencing factors such as urbanization, were not discussed in isolation, but combined with stressors. For instance, traffic and road construction resulting in increasing imperviousness and surface runoff were categorized as part of the forestry practices influences. Without clearly defining urbanization as a type of unique land use practice, monitoring regulations based on land uses remains flawed. This ambiguity in defining urbanization as a unique land use practice highlights the imperfect and ambiguous nature of monitoring regulations based on land uses. The working authority also provided suggestions focused on immediate actions for salmon conservation, and the enhancement of habitat protection over the long-term. While short-term management strategies focused on fixing legal loopholes and strengthening legal enforcement, the enhancement process usually involves multi-stakeholder cooperation, public outreach, and education to raise awareness of riparian buffers' importance. This case can be used as an inspiration to BC Riparian management as the division of land uses are distinct and the potential threats are issued with a priority issue. Although the framework itself focuses on large-scale land use application rather than riparian ecosystems, the identification of potential threats from adjacent land uses to fish population can be applied.

Recent case studies suggest improvement in the riparian management framework. The case study in OSEF of Washington outlined a clear list of indicators to understand the riparian system, including the basic channel morphology, stream temperature, shading, channel substrate, instream Large Woody Debris (LWD), habitat valley and channel classification, stream discharge, riparian microclimate, and riparian vegetation. These indicators are not selected because they present unique information about each individual site but are considered crucial for understanding the health and effectiveness of a riparian system. In fact, these indicators often interact and affect one another. For instance, shading can cause fluctuations in stream temperature, while being affected by riparian vegetation. The OSEF framework recommended various appropriate frequencies to record the data for each indicator. Some indicators such as bank width are simply easier to measure than other information such as the relationship between air and water temperature. The OSEF guidebook takes into consideration of unusual situations that may cause inconsistency or inaccuracy. For instance, although trees are a significant part of riparian vegetation that provide stream shading, the guidebook also recognizes that understory vegetation that does not have a measurable diameter at breast height plays an equally significant ecological role, if not, a more important one for soil erosion control. The thorough monitoring process is projected to last at least ten years and will be kept consistent with monitoring quality control and assurance (Devine et al.,2022). These guidelines as protocols are crucial for the monitoring of riparian systems, thus can also be enhanced in the assessment aspect in BC's management. The working group also have instructions on how to deal with complex situations when measuring the interactive indicators, which can be informative for qualified professionals as they are answering binary assessment questions for a riparian buffer zone.

In British Columbia, riparian buffer zone management within a forested ecosystem is prescriptive, result-based with some degree of independence, or regulated by the FSC. Riparian management guidelines are not as specified as the OSEF guidebook. The progress of riparian management is still notable as it has advanced from the former FRC due to common criticism. The advanced FRPA enables more individual freedom and better assessment of watersheds through a list of indicator questions. FRPA have high demands for knowledge as the management standards are established, planned, and implemented by qualified experts in biology, forestry, and hydrology. Meanwhile, other types of riparian management that are regulated by non-governmental organizations such as the FSC are also available. They have the potential to provide more flexibility and more specified protection towards small-riparian streams if applied appropriately. Another limitation of BC riparian management is the lack of enforcement on small streams even though they are the most vulnerable to land use change and the most critical for salmon habitats. Future riparian management must consider how to apply specific riparian standards, particularly on little streams where there is minimum enforcement.

Future Management Guidance and Recommendations

Based on the findings from the three case studies, several recommendations are made to enhance existing riparian management policies. First, future riparian management frameworks should incorporate specific indicators that accurately measure the well-being of riparian systems. These indicators, such as channel morphology, stream temperature, shading, and riparian vegetation, provide valuable insights into the health and effectiveness of riparian buffer zones. By implementing a comprehensive set of indicators, policymakers and land managers can obtain a more holistic understanding of riparian conditions and make informed decisions regarding conservation strategies. Outlining the ecosystem by identifying relevant threats to riparian health is also important, especially when there are multiple land use activities that poses different levels of risks.

Second, it is crucial to establish consistent monitoring protocols and address unusual occasions that may affect data accuracy. The case study in the Olympic Experimental State Forest (OSEF) demonstrated the importance of recording data for each indicator at appropriate frequencies and considering potential anomalies that could impact measurement consistency. By implementing robust monitoring protocols and quality control measures, policymakers can ensure that the collected data accurately reflects the true state of riparian systems over time. This consistent monitoring will facilitate the evaluation of management practices and allow for adaptive management approaches that can address changing environmental conditions.

Last, existing policies should include site-specific management measures to prevent the oversight of small streams. While the focus of riparian management often falls on larger water bodies, small streams play a crucial role in supporting salmon habitats and are highly vulnerable to land use changes. To address this, riparian management guidelines should specifically address the protection and restoration of small streams, considering their unique ecological characteristics and potential impacts from adjacent land uses. This targeted approach will help ensure that the conservation needs of small streams are not overlooked and that their contribution to overall salmon habitat health is effectively addressed. This requires the alignment of riparian management regulations standards with FPC and FRPA as they are the primary approaches to manage riparian forests in British Columbia. Communication between different departments to follow.

Conclusion

This analysis presented a movement towards a "systems" approach for riparian management in British Columbia. Moving towards a 'systems' approach that integrates the best available information on all human activities is vital for achieving effective riparian management to support BC salmon habitat. Implementing this comprehensive framework would allow for improved communication of the critical importance of riparian ecosystem management to a broader spectrum of stakeholders, including the public. Embracing a systems-based approach acknowledges the interconnectedness of various land uses and their impacts on riparian buffer zones and salmon-bearing streams. This inclusive strategy enables policymakers, land managers, and conservation organizations to holistically address the challenges posed by urbanization and climate change, while also identifying opportunities to enhance riparian functionality. Engaging a wider range of stakeholders in the conversation fosters greater awareness and support for the conservation and restoration of riparian areas. Through collective efforts and informed decision-making, the long-term sustainability of salmon populations and their vital habitats in British Columbia's diverse landscapes can be assured.

References

Artina. (2023). Salmon Symbolism: Indigenous Art & Jewellery. <u>https://artinas.com/collections/salmon/in-stock#:~:text=In%20First%20Nations%20culture%2C%20Salmon.rely%20on%20Salmon%20for%20sustenance</u>.

Barrios, A. (2000). Urbanization and water quality. American Farmland Trust, Center for Agriculture in the Environment.

Bigley, R., Paul, D., Cropper, E., & Devine., Warren. (2022). Riparian Microclimate. Washington State Department of Natural Resources. Commissioner of Public Lands.

Bisson, P. A., Montgomery, D. R., & Buffington, J. M. (2017). Valley segments, stream reaches, and channel units. In *Methods in Stream Ecology, Volume 1* (pp. 21-47). Academic Press.

Bradford, M. J., & Irvine, J. R. (2000). Land use, fishing, climate change, and the decline of Thompson River, British Columbia, coho salmon. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 57(1), 13-16.

Beschta, R. L., R. E. Bilby, G. W. Brown, L. B. Holtby, and T. D. Hofstra. (1987). Stream temperature and aquatic habitat: fisheries and forestry interactions. Pages 191-232 in E. 0. Salo and T. W. Cundy (editors)Contribution No. 57, *Institute of Forest Resources*, University of Washington, Seattle.

Canlii. (2019). BC reg 178/2019 | riparian areas protection regulation | canlii. https://www.canlii.org/en/bc/laws/regu/bc-reg-178-2019/latest/bc-reg-178-2019.html

Chelsea Nagy, R., Graeme Lockaby, B., Kalin, L., & Anderson, C. (2012). Effects of urbanization on stream hydrology and water quality: the Florida Gulf Coast. *Hydrological Processes*, *26*(13), 2019-2030.

Coelho, D., Hughes, S. J., Varandas, S., & Cortes, R. M. V. (2014). Conservation benefits of riparian buffers in urban areas: The case of the Rio Corgo (north Portugal). *Fundam. Appl. Limnol. Archiv Hydrobiol*, *185*, 55-70.

Collins, A. L., Walling, D. E., McMellin, G. K., Zhang, Y., Gray, J., McGonigle, D., & Cherrington, R. (2010). A preliminary investigation of the efficacy of riparian fencing schemes for reducing contributions from eroding channel banks to the siltation of salmonid spawning gravels across the southwest UK. *Journal of Environmental Management*, *91*(6), 1341-1349. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2010.02.015</u>

Devine, W.D., Minkova, T., Martens, K.D., Keck, J., Foster, A.D. (2022). Status and Trends Monitoring of Riparian and Aquatic Habitat in the Olympic Experimental State Forest: 2013-2020. Olympia, WA: Washington State Department of Natural Resources, Forest Resources Division

Drake, D. C., & Naiman, R. J. (2007). Reconstruction of Pacific salmon abundance from riparian tree-ring growth. *Ecological Applications*, *17*(5), 1523-1542.

Emmingham, W. H., Bishaw, B., & Rogers, W. R. (2005). Tree buffers along streams on western Oregon Farmland. *Oregon State University Extension Service*.

Erős, T., Gustafsson, P., Greenberg, L. A., & Bergman, E. (2012). Forest-Stream Linkages: Effects of Terrestrial Invertebrate Input and Light on Diet and Growth of Brown Trout (Salmo trutta) in a Boreal Forest Stream. *PLoS ONE*, 7(5), e36462. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0036462

Foster, A., Vorwerk, M., & Minkova, T. (2022). In-stream Large Wood. Washington State Department of Natural Resources. Commissioner of Public Lands.

Foster, A., Vorwerk, M., & Minkova, T. (2022). Stream Temperature. Washington State Department of Natural Resources. Commissioner of Public Lands.

Fullerton, A. H., Beechie, T. J., Baker, S. E., Hall, J. E., & Barnas, K. A. (2006). Regional patterns of riparian characteristics in the interior Columbia River basin, Northwestern USA: Applications for restoration planning. *Landscape Ecology*, *21*(8), 1347–1360. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-006-0017-8</u>

Furniss, M. J., T. D. Roelofs, and C. S. Yee. (1991). Road construction and maintenance. Pages 297-323 in W. R. Meehan (editor) Influences of forest and rangeland management on salmonid fishes and their habitats. Special Publication 19. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, MD.

Grunblatt, J., Meyer, B. E., & Wipfli, M. S. (2019). Invertebrate prey contributions to juvenile Coho Salmon diet from riparian habitats along three Alaska streams: Implications for environmental change. *Journal of Freshwater Ecology*, 34(1), 617–631. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02705060.2019.1642243</u>

Haberstock, A. E., Nichols, H. G., DesMeules, M. P., Wright, J., Christensen, J. M., & Hudnut, D. (2000). Method to identify effective riparian buffer widths for Altantic salmon habitat protection. *Journal of the American Water Resources Association*, *36*(6), 1271–1286. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-1688.2000.tb05726.x</u>

Harrelson, C. C. (1994). *Stream channel reference sites: an illustrated guide to field technique* (Vol. 245). US Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Forest and Range Experiment Station.

Horton, S., Vorwerk, M., & Minkova, T. (2022). Channel Substrate. Washington State Department of Natural Resources. Commissioner of Public Lands.

Horwitz, R. J., Johnson, T. E., Overbeck, P. F., O'Donnell, T. K., Hession, W. C., & Sweeney, B. W. (2008). Effects of Riparian Vegetation and Watershed Urbanization on Fishes in Streams of the Mid-Atlantic Piedmont (USA) 1. *JAWRA Journal of the American Water Resources Association*, *44*(3), 724-741.

Jones, J. A., & Grant, G. E. (1996). Peak flow responses to clear-cutting and roads in small and large basins, western Cascades, Oregon. *Water Resources Research*, *32*(4), 959-974.

Justice, C., White, S. M., McCullough, D. A., Graves, D. S., & Blanchard, M. R. (2017). Can stream and riparian restoration offset climate change impacts to salmon populations?. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 188, 212-227.

Klapproth, J. and Johnson, J. (2009). Understanding the Science Behind Riparian Forest Buffers: Effects on Plant and Animal Communities. Blacksburg, VA: Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University. Publication 420-152

LeRoy, N., Allan, J. D., Bain, M. B., Karr, J. R., Prestegaard, K. L., Richter, B. D., ... & Stromberg, J. C. (1997). The natural flow regime. *BioScience*, 47(11), 769-784.

LovellFord, Cropper, E., & R., Ricklefs, J. (2022). Stream Discharge Field Protocol. Stream Shade. *Washington State Department of Natural Resources*. *Commissioner of Public Lands*.

Macdonald, J. S., MacIsaac, E. A., & Herunter, H. E. (2003). The effect of variable-retention riparian buffer zones on water temperatures in small headwater streams in sub-boreal forest ecosystems of British Columbia. *Canadian journal of forest research*, 33(8), 1371-1382.

Macneale, K. H., Kiffney, P. M., & Scholz, N. L. (2010). Pesticides, aquatic food webs, and the conservation of Pacific salmon. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 8(9), 475-482.

Mallin, M. A., Johnson, V. L., & Ensign, S. H. (2009). Comparative impacts of stormwater runoff on water quality of an urban, a suburban, and a rural stream. *Environmental monitoring and assessment*, 159, 475-491

Martens, K. D. (2016). Washington State Department of Natural Resources' Riparian Validation Monitoring Program for salmonids on the Olympic Experimental State Forest—study plan. *Washington State Department of Natural Resources, Forest Resources Division, Olympia, Washington*.

McCormick, D. P., & Harrison, S. S. C. (2011). Direct and indirect effects of riparian canopy on juvenile Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar, and brown trout, Salmo trutta, in south-west Ireland. *Fisheries Management and Ecology*, *18*(6), 444-455.

Mellina, E., & Hinch, S. G. (2009). Influences of riparian logging and in-stream large wood removal on pool habitat and salmonid density and biomass: a meta-analysis. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, *39*(7), 1280-1301.

Mills, D.H. (1972). Preliminary assessment of the characteristics of spawning tributaries of the Rover Tweed with a view to management. *International Atlantic Salmon Symposium. Special Publication Series*. Vol. 4(2): 145-168

Murphy, M. L. (1995). Forestry impacts on freshwater habitat of anadromous salmonids in the Pacific Northwest and Alaska: requirements for protection and restoration (No. 7). US Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Coastal Ocean Office.

Minkova, T., & Foster, A. D. (2017). Status and trends monitoring of riparian and aquatic habitat in the Olympic Experimental State Forest: monitoring protocols. *Status and trends monitoring of riparian and aquatic habitat in the Olympic Experimental State Forest: Monitoring protocols. Washington State Department of Natural Resources, Forest Resources Division, Olympia, WA. 363 p.*

Naiman, R. J., & Decamps, H. (1997). The ecology of interfaces: riparian zones. Annual review of Ecology and Systematics, 28(1), 621-658.

Olson, D. H., Anderson, P. D., Frissell, C. A., Welsh Jr, H. H., & Bradford, D. F. (2007). Biodiversity management approaches for stream-riparian areas: perspectives for Pacific Northwest headwater forests, microclimates, and amphibians. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 246(1), 81-107.

Pacific Salmon Foundation. (2011, January). Salmon in BC.

Pal, S., Talukdar, S., & Ghosh, R. (2020). Damming effect on habitat quality of riparian corridor. *Ecological Indicators*, *114*, 106300. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2020.106300</u>

Poole, G. C., & Berman, C. H. (2001). An ecological perspective on in-stream temperature: natural heat dynamics and mechanisms of human-causedt hermal degradation. *Environmental management*, 27, 787-802.

Reid, L. M. (1993). *Research and cumulative watershed effects* (Vol. 141). US Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Research Station.

Richardson, J. S., Naiman, R. J., Swanson, F. J., & Hibbs, D. E. (2005). Riparian communities associated with Pacific Northwest headwater streams: assemblages, processes, and uniqueness 1. *JAWRA Journal of the American Water Resources Association*, *41*(4), 935-947.

Ricklefs, J., Minkova, T., Vorwerk, M., & Cropper, E. (2022). Stream Shade. *Washington State Department of Natural Resources. Commissioner of Public Lands*.

Sabater, S. (2008). Alterations of the global water cycle and their effects on river structure, function, and services. *Freshwater Reviews*, 1(1), 75-88.

Schuett-Hames, D., Pleus, A. E., Ward, J., Fox, M., & Light, J. (1999). LARGE WOODY DEBRIS SURVEY.

Smithsonian. (2018). Importance of salmon - pacific coast: Teacher resource. Importance of Salmon - Pacific Coast | Teacher Resource. *National Museum of the American Indian*.

Sullivan, K., Martin, D. J., Cardwell, R. D., Toll, J. E., & Duke, S. (2000). An analysis of the effects of temperature on salmonids of the Pacific Northwest with implications for selecting temperature criteria. *Sustainable Ecosystems Institute, Portland, OR*.

The Maine Atlantic Salmon Task Force (1997). Atlantic salmon conservation plan for seven Maine rivers. *Maine State Library*

Tripp, D. B., Tschaplinski, P. J., Bird, S. A., & Hogan, D. L. (2009). Protocol for evaluating the condition of streams and riparian management areas (Riparian Management Routine Effectiveness Evaluation).

Tschaplinski, P. J., & Pike, R. G. (2011). Riparian management and effects on function. In *Compendium of forest* hydrology and geomorphology in British Columbia. RG Pike, TE Redding, RD Moore, RD Winker, and KD Bladon (editors). BC Ministry of Forests and Range, Forest Science Program. Victoria, BC, and FORREX Forum for Research and Extension in Natural Resources, Kamloops, BC. Land Management Handbook (Vol. 66, pp. 479-526).

UBC Forestry. (2023, July 7). *Richardson, john: Faculty profile: UBC Forestry*. UBC Faculty of Forestry. https://forestry.ubc.ca/faculty-profile/john-richardson/

UBC Forestry. (2023a, July 7). *Hinch, scott: Faculty profile: UBC Forestry*. UBC Faculty of Forestry. https://forestry.ubc.ca/faculty-profile/scott-hinch/

Wentzel, J., & Hull, C. (2021, August). An overview of riparian systems and potential problems. OSU Extension Service.https://extension.oregonstate.edu/water/riparian-areas/overview-riparian-systems-potential-problems

Wu, S., Bashir, M. A., Raza, Q. U. A., Rehim, A., Geng, Y., & Cao, L. (2023). Application of riparian buffer zone in agricultural non-point source pollution control – A review. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems*, 7, 64.

Appendix

Communication Infographic to brief decision makers and inform the public

